

INSTITUT NATIONAL DE RECHERCHE EN INFORMATIQUE ET EN AUTOMATIQUE

Project-Team iparla

Visualization and manipulation of complex data for mobile users

Bordeaux - Sud-Ouest



Theme : Interaction and Visualization

Table of contents

1.	Team				
2.	Overall Objectives				
	2.1. Introduction	1			
	2.2. Highlights	2			
3.	Scientific Foundations	2			
	3.1. Geometric Modeling and Acquisition	2			
	3.2. Appearance, 3D Data Rendering and Visualization	3			
	3.3. 3D User interfaces	3			
4.	Application Domains				
5.	Software	. 5			
	5.1. Eigen	5			
	5.2. Expressive Rendering shaders	5			
	5.3. Navidget - Easy 3D Camera Positioning from 2D Inputs	5			
	5.4. Elkano	6			
	5.5. CEMO	6			
	5.6. MRF - Mallia Rendering Framework	7			
	5.7. HDRSee	7			
	5.8. ArcheoTUI	7			
6.	6. New Results				
	6.1. Modeling	8			
	6.1.1. Subdivision surfaces	8			
	6.1.2. Reassembly	8			
	6.2. 3D Data Rendering and Visualization	8			
	6.2.1. Soft shadows	8			
	6.2.2. Vector-based lighting	9			
	6.2.3. Efficient compression of spatially varying materials	10			
	6.3. Expressive Rendering	10			
	6.3.1. Expressive Visualization for Augmented Reality				
	6.3.2. Light Warping and Radiance Scaling	10			
6.4. Interaction		11			
	6.4.1. Touch-based interaction	11			
	6.4.2. Immersive music	11			
7.	Contracts and Grants with Industry	11			
	7.1. Contracts with Industry	11			
	7.2. National Initiatives	11			
	7.2.1. SeARCH	11			
	7.2.2. InSTINCT	12			
	7.2.3. Animaré	12			
	7.3. European Initiatives	12			
8.	Other Grants and Activities	12			
	8.1.1. Associated Team: Bird	12			
	8.1.2. JST - CNRS Project	13			
9.	Dissemination	14			
	9.1. Participation to the Scientific Community	14			
	9.1.1. Conference organisation	14			
	9.1.2. Symposium co-chair	14			
	9.1.3. Guest Editor	14			
	9.1.4. Program committee	14			
	9.1.5. Demonstartion co-chair	14			

9.1.6.	Reviews	14
9.1.7.	Committees	14
9.1.8.	Jury of PhD thesis	15
9.1.9.	Jury of HDR	15
9.1.10.	Expertises	15
9.1.11.	Demos	15
9.2. Tea	ching	15
10. Bibliogra	aphy	

IPARLA is an INRIA Project-Team joint with University of Bordeaux (UB1 and UB2) and CNRS (LaBRI, UMR 5800)

1. Team

Research Scientists

Pascal Barla [INRIA, Research Associate (CR)] Xavier Granier [INRIA, Research Associate (CR), HdR] Gaël Guennebaud [INRIA, Research Associate (CR)] Martin Hachet [INRIA, Research Associate (CR), HdR]

Faculty Members

Pascal Guitton [University Bordeaux 1, Team Leader, Professor (Pr), HdR] Jean-Sébastien Franco [University Bordeaux 1, Assistant professor (MdC), till Sept. 2010] Patrick Reuter [University Bordeaux 2, Assistant Professor (MdC)] Christophe Schlick [University Bordeaux 2, Professor (Pr), HdR]

External Collaborator

Jean-Christophe Gonzato [University Bordeaux 1, Assistant professor (MdC)]

Technical Staff

Benoit Bossavit [INRIA, Expert engineer] Olivier Dumas [INRIA, Expert Engineer, till Aug. 2010] Fabrice Decle [University Bordeaux 1, Research Engineer (Instinct), till Dec. 2010]

PhD Students

Jérôme Baril [University Bordeaux 1, ATER, till Dec. 2010] Simon Boye [University Bordeaux 1, MESR grant] Aurélie Cohé [INRIA, ANR grant (Instinct)] Jiazhou Chen [Zhejiang University, since March. 2010] Heqi Lu [INRIA, since Nov. 2010 (CORDIS)] Olivier Hughes [MaxSea, CIFRE] Jérémy Laviole [University Bordeaux 1, MESR grant, since Sept. 2010] Nicolas Mellado [INRIA, ANR grant (SeARCH)] Yann Savoye [University Bordeaux 1, MENRT grant] Robin Skowronsky [Aérodrones, CIFRE] Romain Vergne [University Bordeaux 1, MESR grant, till Nov. 2010]

Post-Doctoral Fellows

Lucas Ammann [University Bordeaux, since Sept. 2010] Nicolas Maréchal [INRIA, since Nov. 2010 (Animare)] Yanli Liu [INRIA, since Nov. 2010 (CORDIS)]

Administrative Assistant

Marie Sanchez [INRIA]

2. Overall Objectives

2.1. Introduction

Mobility is the major (r)evolution for current interactive systems. Therefore, one of the biggest challenges for interactive 3D graphics is now to evolve to a mobile context. The main goal of the IPARLA project is to contribute to this evolution.

During the last decade, a large range of consumer electronics devices have been developed, that allow the user to benefit from computing resources in mobile settings. The last generations of cell phones, personal digital assistants, or even portable game devices, combine embedded programmable CPUs (and more recently GPUs) with several flavors of wireless communication capabilities. Such *Mobile and Connected Devices* (MCDs) offer the opportunity to develop a wide variety of end-user software applications over client/server infrastructures.

MCDs induce specific constraints for the incoming data flow (e.g. limited CPU/GPU for real-time computing and small screens) as well as for outgoing data flow (e.g. limited input devices). These technological constraints naturally decrease the cognitive immersion of the user, which affects the performance and the adhesion to the end-user applications. In the IPARLA project, we want to address this issue by jointly developing techno-centered and human-centered techniques for interactive mobile 3D applications.

Although MCDs are an important part of our project, we focus more on the mobility of the user and the involved applications (including the data) than on the device itself. In other words, we do not aim exclusively on the development of applications for MCD, but rather to design flexible solutions that allow easy conversions for the user and the applications between a mobile context and a fixed context. For example, we want to design concepts that enable us to use the same application on a MCD, on a standard PC or in a virtual reality center as illustrated by the image at the end of this text.

In order to reach this goal, our development is strongly oriented to produce scalable, multi-resolution solutions that are able to stream and deal with large amounts of data in a client-server context. These five keywords recall the main approaches we have selected to reach our objectives.



Figure 1. Visualization and Interaction with 3D Content for Mobile Users.

2.2. Highlights

- We received a best paper award at the 2010 Symposium on Interactive 3D graphics and games for our paper "Radiance Scaling for Versatile Surface Enhancement". This extend even more the visibility on our research in the field of expressive rendering and shape depiction.
- With the new responsabilities of Pascal Guitton, in September 2010 Christophe Schlick became the new leader of the Iparla project-team. This also annonce the recent end of Iparla with the creation of new project(s).

3. Scientific Foundations

3.1. Geometric Modeling and Acquisition

In computer graphics, we are primarily concerned with the surfaces of geometric objects since the surfaces are what we actually see, animate, and physically process. Since Iparla project aims to develop mobile solutions, that is, solutions that can be adapted to the different modeling contexts and modeling platforms. We will thus consider multiresolution representations (like subdivision surfaces) and multi-representation (hybrid point-based/ implicit surface - meshes, hybrid 3D and 2D structures, ...).

In recent years, multiresolution modeling has proved to be valuable in 3D geometric surface modeling and rendering. It deals with the generation, representation, visualization, and manipulation of surfaces at various levels of detail or accuracy in a single model. Applications include fast rendering, level of detail editing, collision detection, scientific visualization, as well as compression and progressive transmission. In the context of mobility, the requirement of multiresolution is even essential due the enormous differences of hardware capacities. Multiresolution is also the link between geometric modeling and rendering, providing for instance an appropriate level of detail for a given viewpoint in order to ensure real-time rendering.

In the context of mobility, the users are directly in front of the real world. In Iparla project, we have thus to consider the problem of 3D data acquisition, with 3D scanners of any other devices like the embedded camera of mobile devices. A challenging task is to handle the modeling and rendering of the large amount of data in real-time. Several of our algorithms are designed to work "out-of-core" to process large acquired data (e.g. gigantic point clouds from 3D scanners). When real-time is reached, geometry acquisition can be used for interaction.

Modeling and acquisition can hardly be considered without taking into account the rendering part, and for a mobile usage, without taking into account the user, at the center of any mobile application. Cognition and Interaction have to be considered during the development of new modeling approaches.

3.2. Appearance, 3D Data Rendering and Visualization

One of the main goals of the Iparla project is the interactive visualization of complex 3D data on heterogeneous platforms. For example, a very rich and realistic visualization stream including shadows and a complete set of light effects is required when a user has to "feel" parts of a virtual world. Realistic rendering is also required when it comes to augmented reality applications. Keeping the coherence between the virtual world and some virtual objects as well as between real objects and the virtual world is a challenging research domain: appearance has to be sufficiently rich, illumination has to be sufficiently plausible. For the MCD, these technologies can be used for example for virtual visits, virtual presentations or, more generally, when the MCD is used as an interface to the real world.

On the other hand, in order to easily focus on what is really important to visualize, a legible rendering is more appropriate. As a consequence, expressive rendering (or non-photorealistic rendering - NPR) techniques have recently become popular in the computer graphics community. We believe that these techniques are helpful for depiction because they only represent perceptually salient properties of the depicted scenes and thus permit to avoid extraneous details that sometimes make images unnecessarily confusing. However, designing efficient expressive rendering systems involves being able to choose the appropriate style to represent the appropriate salient properties. In particular, it requires to gain insights into the perceptual processes that occur in observing an image depending on a given task. We thus consider perceptual and cognitive issues to be inherently a part of the research on Expressive Rendering.

Despite the progress of MCDs, these client devices which are designed for mobility will always have less computing and storage capacity compared to the server. Consequently, we have to think about distributed approaches by re-investigating the entire pipeline, from storage, over transmission, to visualization. We have to define the correct representation for the data, for transmission and streaming. Moreover, we have to define how to visualize the data when received, both for realistic rendering and expressive rendering. We think that expressive rendering reduces the amount of information to transmit by focusing on what is really important.

3.3. 3D User interfaces

The IPARLA project-team conceives, develops, and evaluates user interfaces dedicated to 3D interaction tasks (3D UIs). This research topic is at the frontier between Computer Graphics (CG) and Human-Computer-Interaction (HCI), with a strong link to Virtual Reality (VR). Our objective is to design 3D UIs that favor the mobility of users, from small mobile devices to large, immersive environments. In this large spectrum, touch-screens are currently of special interest for us. Our activities in the scope of interaction follow three main research directions.

The first one, directly linked to the initial focus of the IPARLA project-team, is about 3D UIs for mobile devices (PhD Thesis of Fabrice Decle). We have continued to address the challenge of improving 3D interaction on mobile devices with the final goal of favoring the use of 3D applications in mobile setups. To achieve this goal, we have designed new 3D UIs adapted to the mobile device input space.

The second one has emerged from tactile interaction on mobile devices, but with a wider spectrum. It concerns [multi-]touch 3D interaction (PhD Thesis of Sebastian Knoedel). Whereas many interfaces have been proposed to enhance tactile interaction in 2D spatial contexts, very little work addresses 3D interaction. Consequently, standard keyboard/mouse based 3D UIs need to be reinvented. We have focused on this new challenging goal, in particular within the ANR InSTINCT project.

Finally, we explore immersive interfaces for virtual reality, in particular in the scope of music (PhD Thesis of Florent Berthaut). Beyond music, we are also interested in immersive interaction for cultural heritage. e.g. for reassembling virtual fragments of objects in a fast and easy way. All this work contributes to the general quest of enhancing 3D interaction for mobile users, from small mobile devices to large, immersive setups.

4. Application Domains

4.1. Application Domains

We think it is out of the scope of this report to establish an exhaustive list of application domains that could benefit from mobile 3D interactive technologies. Consequently, we only present some key applications here.

- Assisted navigation. Mobile and connected devices equipped with GPS are currently used as digital assistants for navigation. Such systems can help car drivers for route planning. They also can assist pedestrians or bike users when exploring cities, or when hiking in countryside. Existing solutions are mainly based on 2D or 2.5D visualization of data, which are generally stored on CD-ROMs or memory-sticks. Our project aims to provide 3D navigation tools where the data can be accessed from an up-to-date database stored on distant servers. Hence, for example, a hiker visualizes on its mobile device a 3D representation of the surrounding landscape that embeds information such as the way to follow, or the direction to the next mountain refuge.
- **Augmented reality.** The majority of today's mobile devices is equipped with embedded cameras. Consequently, the use of these setups for augmented reality allows to imagine a wide variety of useful applications in our everyday life. For example, in the domain of cultural heritage, some extra information coming from distant servers can enhance the images coming from the cameras of the mobile devices. More precisely, for example the interest of merging synthetic reconstructions of partially destroyed buildings with the images of the real buildings can easily be understood. The same approach can be useful for many domains such as tourism, maintenance, and so on.
- **Crisis management and distant assistance.** Mobile and immersive technologies can be mixed. In particular, we want to enhance interaction between mobile users that are surrounded by the real environment and distant "control centers" where high quality visualizations are provided. On the one hand, information such as GPS positions and video streams can be received by control centers from all the mobile units. On the other hand, control centers that have a global knowledge of the situation can send helpful information to the mobile users, such as 3D models of pertinent objects. The interest of such an approach can easily be understood for many applications in the scope of crisis management or distant assistance.

Entertainment. Entertainment and especially video games are key applications directly related with our project as well. Some mobile devices have been designed for entertainment, and video games have been specifically developed for such setups. The results of our research in the scope of rendering or interaction can directly contribute to the development of the entertainment industry. Moreover, we are investigating new approaches for entertainment, in particular concerning the continuum between different platforms. For example, we can imagine a user to start a game at home with a PC/console, and to continue later the same game with MCD in public transportation.

5. Software

5.1. Eigen

Participant: Gaël Guennebaud [correspondant].

Web: http://eigen.tuxfamily.org/

Eigen is a fast, versatile, and elegant C++ template library for linear algebra and related algorithms. In particular it provides fixed and dynamic size matrices and vectors, sparse matrices and vectors, matrix decompositions (LU, LLT, LDLT, QR, eigenvalues, etc.), some basic geometry features (transformations, quaternions, axis-angles, Euler angles, hyperplanes, lines, etc.), automatic differentiations, etc. Thanks to expression templates, Eigen2 provides a very powerful and easy to use API. Explicit vectorization is performed for the SSE (2 and later) and AltiVec instruction sets, with graceful fallback to non-vectorized code. Expression templates allow to perform these optimizations globally for whole expressions, and to remove unecessary temporary objects.

Eigen is already a famous library with about 3500 unique visitors of the website per month, while the mailing list holds about 150 members with a very high traffic (300 message per month).

5.2. Expressive Rendering shaders

Participants: Romain Vergne, Pascal Barla.

Shaders developped in the course of our research on expressive rendering have been published under the CeCILL-B license, and distributed on the Animaré project webpage (https://iparla.inria.fr/collaborations/animare/). The goal of such a publication is to let members of the scientific community test and compare with our techniques. This also includes plugins for MeshLab and Nuke.

5.3. Navidget - Easy 3D Camera Positioning from 2D Inputs

Participants: Martin Hachet [correspondant], Fabrice Decle, Sebastian Knoedel.

Web: https://iparla.labri.fr/software/navidget/

Navidget is a new interaction technique for camera positioning in 3D environments. Unlike the existing POI techniques, Navidget does not attempt to automatically estimate where and how the user wants to move. Instead, it provides good feedback and control for fast and easy interactive camera positioning. Navidget can also be useful for distant inspection when used with a preview window.

This new 3D User interface is totally based on 2D inputs. As a result, it is appropriate for a wide variety of visualization systems, from small handheld devices to large interactive displays. A user study on TabletPC shows that the usability of Navidget is very good for both expert and novice users. Apart from these tasks, the Navidget approach can be useful for further purposes such as collaborative work and animation.

We have developed a C++/OpenGL library, called LibNavidget, which allows you to integrate Navidget in your own applications. A sample application is included in the package.

5.4. Elkano

Participants: Benoit Bossavit [correspondant], Fabrice Decle, Xavier Granier.

Web: http://iparla.labri.fr/software/elkano/

Elkano is a scenegraph oriented real-time 3D framework which is used to develop 3D applications, rendering and interaction techniques. Elkano is a cross platform C++ library and a set of client/server applications for Linux, Win32 and Windows Mobile. Elkano is fully scriptable through the Lua scripting language. It also provides schemes for remote visualization of large 3D virtual environments and tools to design adaptive and progressive nodes. The applications designed with Elkano are made to work on such heterogeneous platforms from a handheld device in a mobility context to a cluster of PCs in a virtual reality center.



Figure 2. Real-time visualization of the underground water network of Bordeaux. An Elkano-based application developed for the ANR RaxEnv project.

Through the VRML97, X3D, Ogre scene formats, one can easily develop new optimized nodes with streaming capabilities to get the best performance on heterogeneous platforms. We also developed modules to support multi-screen rendering through a homogeneous cluster of devices (PCs or MCDs), OpenGL shaders and streamed level of details of lines in the context of NPR rendering. Geo-referenced models (like earth terrains) are supported. Objects animation, physical engine, light sources management, shadows and GPU buffer objects support were recently introduced.

Elkano is used in many work and projects of Iparla: NatSim, RaxEnv, Partage, Dahlia, etc.

5.5. CEMO

Participants: Xavier Granier, Zhang Zhongxin [Zheijang University].

Web: https://gforge.inria.fr/projects/cemo/

Cemo is a framework for sketch-based 3D modeling. First issued from the work of Dr Zhang Zhongxin from the State Key Lab of CAD&CG (Zheijang University - Hangzhou - China), it is now a common development platform for research in 3D modeling through sketching. This research is part of the Bird Associated team (Bunraku - IPARLA - State Key Lab of CAD&CG).

6

5.6. MRF - Mallia Rendering Framework

Participant: Xavier Granier [correspondant].

The Mallia Rendering Framework (aka MRF) is a framework library for the development of rendering algorithms. MRF has been used to develop several high quality software rendering applications like a Ray Tracer (marat), a Path-Tracer (manioc, see Figure 3) and also hardware rendering applications using GPU. MRF is a cross platform C++ library for Linux and Win32.



Figure 3. A scene rendering with manioc, a path-tracer.

5.7. HDRSee

Participant: Xavier Granier [correspondant].

Web: http://mhdrviewer.gforge.inria.fr/

HDRSee is a OpenGL/GLSL software that displays High Dynamic Range (HDR) and Low Dynamic Range (LDR) images 4. To display HDR images, HDRSee implements a few tone-mapping operators. Moreover, it is designed with a plugin mechanism that let developers add, as easily as possible, their own tone-mapping operator. All tone-mapping operations are done using Graphics Hardware through pixel shader operations.

5.8. ArcheoTUI

Participants: Patrick Reuter [correspondant], Nicolas Mellado.

ArcheoTUI is a software for the virtual reassembly of fractured archeological objects via tangible interaction with foot pedal declutching. ArcheoTUI is designed to easily change assembly hypotheses, beyond classical undo/redo, by using a scene graph. The software connects to the database of the broken fragments that are organized in an SQL database. In 2009, we enhanced the ArcheoTUI software with the results of the Master thesis of Nicolas Mellado : a local semi-automatic assembly algorithm based on the ICP (iterative corresponding point) algorithm, that works in real-time.



Figure 4. Tone-Mapped Image of a Night Landscape.

6. New Results

6.1. Modeling

6.1.1. Subdivision surfaces

Participants: Gaël Guennebaud, Simon Boye, Christophe Schlick.

Subdivision surfaces are a very powerful and widely used representation to generate high quality surfaces out of coarse polygonal control meshes. Unfortunately, they are also very well known to generate severe artifacts around extraordinary vertices. To address this quality issue, we introduced a novel approach to define subdivision surfaces called Least Squares Subdivision Surfaces (LS^3) [17]. The key idea is to exploit the smoothing capacity of local patch approximations. While the resulting procedure has the same complexity as simpler subdivision schemes, our method offers much higher visual quality, especially in the vicinity of extraordinary vertices (figure 5-ab). Our fitting procedure allows for a local control of the surface from the normals, making LS^3 very well suited for interactive freeform modeling applications.

6.1.2. Reassembly

Participants: Nicolas Mellado, Patrick Reuter, Christophe Schlick.

In the context of cultural heritage, 3D laser scanning of broken content is becoming increasingly popular, resulting in large collections of detailed fractured archaeological 3D objects that have to be reassembled virtually. We recently investigated a semi-automatic reassembly approach for pairwise matching of digital fragments, that makes it possible to take into account both the archeologist's expertise, as well as the power of automatic geometry-driven matching algorithms (figure 5-c). Our underlying matching algorithm advances state of the art Iterative Closest Point algorithms with pruning and orientation weighting [19].

6.2. 3D Data Rendering and Visualization

6.2.1. Soft shadows

Participants: Gaël Guennebaud, Shen Li, Baoguang Yang, Jieqing Feng.



Figure 5. Loop subdivision (a) compared to our LS^3 procedure (b). (c) Semi-automatic reassembly of two archaeological fragments.

Shadows is a fundamental visual effect which both increase the level of realism of a 3D scene, and help to identify spatial relationships between objects. This latter observation makes them particularly important in the context of interactive 3D applications. Generating high quality soft shadows in real-time is still an open challenge. In the continuity of our previous collaboration with the State Key Lab of CAD&CG of Zhejiang University (China) [42], we developed a perceptually based metric dedicated to the prediction of ideal shadow map resolutions [13]. This metric allows us to adaptively generate shadow map tiles. As a result, we managed to render wide and complex exterior scenes with high quality while maintaining high performance (see figure 6).



Figure 6. Our soft shadow rendering system generate adaptive shadow map tiles and can therefore render softer shadows (right @ 25 fps) faster than their hard shadow counter part (left @ 15 fps).

6.2.2. Vector-based lighting

Participants: Xavier Granier, Christophe Schlick.

We extend to caching [14] the use of our volumetric representation that captures low-frequency indirect illumination, structure intended for efficient storage and manipulation of illumination on graphics hardware. It is based on a 3D texture that stores a fixed set of irradiance vectors. This texture is built during a preprocessing step by using almost any existing global illumination software. Then during the rendering step, the indirect illumination within a voxel is interpolated from its associated irradiance vectors, and is used by the fragment shader as additional local light sources. The technique can thus be considered as following the same trend as ambient occlusion or precomputed radiance transfer techniques, as it tries to include visual effects from global illumination into real-time rendering engines. But its 3D vector-based representation offers additional

robustness against local variations of geometric of a scene. We demonstrate that our technique may also be employed as an efficient and high quality caching data structure for bidirectional rendering techniques.



Figure 7. Virtual Museum of 3D Objects for Computer Graphics

6.2.3. Efficient compression of spatially varying materials

The quality of the computed illumination depends on the model representing the reflective behavior of surfaces. Compared to traditional surfaces, these models are characterized by their higher dimensionality. Moreover, the emergence of digital capture devices leads to dense measures of real phenomena. We have thus to investigate new models that can efficiently reduce the required size for representing such phenomena. For spatially varying materials, we have developed alternative representations that are more prone to compression by decorrelating spatial from directional variations [11] while being still suitable for real-time rendering on GPU.

6.3. Expressive Rendering

6.3.1. Expressive Visualization for Augmented Reality

Participants: Jiazhou Chen, Xavier Granier.

For augmented reality, legible visualization of masked object is important for the user to understand the general structure of the scene and the relative depth order between all the components (real of virtual ones). We have developed [23] an on-line framework for the visualizing of underground structures that improves X-Ray vision and Focus and Context Rendering for Augmented Reality. Our approach does not require an accurate reconstruction of the 3D environment and runs on-line on modern hardwares. For these purposes, we extract characteristic features from video frames and create visual cues to reveal occlusion relationships. To enhance the perception of occluding order, the extracted features are either directly rendered, or used to create hybrid blending masks: we thus ensures that the resulting cues are clearly noticeable.

6.3.2. Light Warping and Radiance Scaling

Participants: Pascal Barla, Xavier Granier, Christophe Schlick, Romain Vergne.

Recently, a number of techniques have been proposed to exaggerate the depiction of shape through the shading of 3D objects. However, existing methods are limited to a single type of material, simple light sources, and they give a fake percept where 3D shape seems to be flattened or embossed, or produce temporal artifacts. Based on our Light Warping (LW) method [41], we developed a new method, called Radiance Scaling [32]. It complements LW by modifying lighting amplitude, which results in a more flexible and faster technique that is best adapted to interactive applications. The LW technique has been ported to the Frapper software, developed by the Filmakademie (a famous German graphics school) and into Meshlab (http://meshlab.sourceforge.net/). This work has been awarded as a best paper at I3D 2010 conference and selected for an extended publication in TVCG [18].

6.4. Interaction

6.4.1. Touch-based interaction

We have continued exploring 3D User Interfaces for [multi-]touch screens.

In particular, in [28], we conducted a user study to better understand the impact of directness on user performance for a RST docking task, for both 2D and 3D visualization conditions. This study showed that direct-touch shortens completion times, but indirect interaction improves efficiency and precision, and this is particularly true for 3D visualizations. The study also showed that users' trajectories are comparable for all conditions (2D/3D and direct/indirect). This tends to show that indirect RST control may be valuable for interactive visualization of 3D content. To illustrate this finding, we present a demo application that allows novice users to arrange 3D objects on a 2D virtual plane in an easy and efficient way.

We have also designed a new 3D transformation widget, called tBox, that can been operated easily and efficiently from simple gestures on touch-screens. In our approach, users apply rotations by means of physically plausible gestures, and we have extended successful 2D tactile principles to the context of 3D interaction [24]. This new 3D user interface enhance 3D interaction on touchscreens.

6.4.2. Immersive music

We have continued our collaboration with the "Digital Sound" group of LaBRI. This collaboration has led to interesting results. In particular, we have studied how sound processes should be visualized in immersive setups [20]. We also have introduced the concept of *hierarchical live-looping*, and we have proposed a full virtual instrument that takes benefit of this concept [21]. In [22], we describe *PIIVERT*, a new input device that has been specifically designed for playing music in 3D immersive environments.

7. Contracts and Grants with Industry

7.1. Contracts with Industry

7.1.1. Light Warping in Frapper

We have assisted the porting of the Light Warping method to Filmakademie's software Frapper. We expect the technique to be used in further productions of the German school, like short movies or commercials.

7.2. National Initiatives

7.2.1. SeARCH

Grant: ANR Program "Contenus et Interactions" (Research National Agency)
Dates: 2009 - 2012
Partners: Iparla [leader], Ausonius (CNRS - Université de Bordeaux), CEAlex (CNRS - Alexendrie - Egypte), ESTIA (Bidard - France)

Overview: The SeARCH project is particularly motivated by a concrete archeological context: one of the partners is the Centre d'études Alexandrines (CEAlex, USR 3134) that works on the reconstruction of the lighthouse of Alexandria and its surrounding statues. Most of the fragments of the lighthouse and the statues are underwater. Some of the fragments, especially from the statues, have already been lifted to the surface. The SeARCH project strives to develop semi-automatic techniques for the virtual reassembly of 3D objects. The first involved step is the digital acquisition of the fragments, on-site, and under aggravated circumstances, combined with some post-processing steps of the acquired fragments. The second step is the reassembly of the fragments that should not only be as automatic as possible, but should also allow taking into account the long-year work experience of the cultural heritage professionals by new efficient interaction and visualization techniques.

7.2.2. InSTInCT

Grant: ANR Program "Contenus et Interactions" (Research National Agency) **Dates:** 2009 - 2012

Partners: Iparla [leader], Alcove (Inria - Lille Nord Europe), Immersion, Cap Sciences

Overview: The InSTInCT project focuses on the design, development, and evaluation of new simple and efficient touch-based interfaces, with the goal of bringing widespread visibility to new generations of interactive 3D applications, aimed in particular at general public audiences. To this goal, we propose a pluridisciplinary approach allowing to address all aspects of the problem, from technical to end-usage challenges. Within the project we will first focus on bringing new hardware technologies leveraging a broad set of modalities and inputs (finger orientation, haptic feedback, etc). Second, we will propose new touch-based interaction techniques dedicated to interactive 3D tasks (manipulation, navigation, volume exploration). Third, we will aim at exporting the concept of touch-based 3D interaction to spawn new uses, targeting the full range of professionnal to general public applications. A fundamentally original aspect of the InSTInCT project, is to include broad experimental campaigns in the real-life conditions of Cap Science exhibits, from the earliest project stages. These test campaigns will be used to guide developments and will allow true-to-life and wide scale evaluation of the 3D interfaces we propose.

7.2.3. Animaré

Grant: ANR Program "Jeune Chercheur" (Research National Agency) Dates: 2008 - 2011

Partners: Iparla [leader], ARTIS (INRIA Rhone Alpes)

Overview: Expressive Rendering is a recent branch of Computer Graphics that offers promising novel styles, and is increasingly used in many application domains such as video games or movie production. At the present time, only expert artists are able to create compelling animations, and still, this is an extremely time-consuming process, with many constraints that strongly limit creativity. The reason is that current models are not sophisticated enough to provide intuitive manipulations and versatile styles. The motivation behind this project is to overcome these limitations both for 2D and 3D animation systems.

7.3. European Initiatives

7.3.1. V-MUST ("Virtual Museum and Cultural Heritage")

Grant: Network of Excellence (FP7) on Digital Library **Dates:** 2011-2015

8. Other Grants and Activities

8.1. International grants

8.1.1. Associated Team: Bird

"Interactions entre les mondes Réels et Virtuels / Interactions between Real and Virtual Worlds"

Grant: INRIA-DREI

Dates: 2008-2010

Partners: Bunraku - IRISA - Rennes and State key Lab of CAD&CG - Zheijang University - Hangzhou - China

Overview: The main purpose of this collaboration is to provide new tools for managing the interaction between real and virtual worlds. We first want to ease the interaction between real users and virtual worlds during modeling and collaborative tasks. Concerning generation of virtual worlds, we will focus not on fully automatic solutions, but on semi-automatic ones that will take into account human decisions. This integration of the user is essential to provide intuitive processes and better immersion. Based on the different interfaces between virtual and real world (from a simple stylus to a set of cameras), we have to capture accurately the motions, the gestures, and to interpret the intentions of humans, in order to correctly integrate these actions and intentions.

Web: http://www.irisa.fr/prive/donikian/EA/

8.1.2. JST - CNRS Project

"Improving the VR experience"

Grant: CNRS

Dates: 2008-2010

Partners: LSSIIT - Strasbourg and Bunraku - IRISA - Rennes and Tokyo University - Tokyo and Keio University - Tokyo and Osaka University - Osaka

Overview: Virtual Reality (VR) is a scientific and technical domain, making the most of computer science and behavioral interface to simulate the behavior of entities in a virtual world. One of the most important and difficult topics of VR is to obtain the best possible feeling of immersion. To reach this goal, it is necessary to combine a correct representation of the behaviour of entities in the 3D scene, an intuitive and natural interaction, and a relevant visualization, all of this in real time. To overcome this scientific challenge, we have identified the three following points:

- Intelligent behaviour of virtual entities: improvement of the believability of virtual humans by combining together reactive and cognitive behaviours. We would like to explore multilayered approaches allowing to combine reactive path planning and collision avoidance together with cognitive task planning,
- Non photorealistic rendering of virtual worlds: non photorealistic rendering (NPR, also mentionned as expressive rendering) is a very promising way to visualize virtual worlds. NPR is based both on very ancient graphical technics (drawing, painting) as well on very recent ones (cartoons),
- Interaction with virtual worlds: improvement of the gesture in immersive environment. Among others, by physically constraining the motion of the hand or a hand-held tool thanks to haptic or pseudo-haptic techniques.

9. Dissemination

9.1. Participation to the Scientific Community

9.1.1. Conference organisation

9.1.2. Symposium co-chair

• IEEE Symposium on 3D User Interfaces (3DUI) 2010 (Martin Hachet)

9.1.3. Guest Editor

• IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics, vol. 16, no. 1, January/February 2010 (Martin Hachet)

9.1.4. Program committee

Iparla is involved in the program committee of:

- Eurographics 2011 (Pascal Barla),
- IEEE Virtual Reality 2011 (Martin Hachet)
- Eurographics 2011 Short Papers (Martin Hachet),
- SIGGRAPH Asia 2010 (Martin Hachet),
- Graphics Interface (GI) 2010 (Xavier Granier)
- International Symposium on Visual Computing 2010
- Non Photorealistic Animation and Rendering 2010
- Shape Modeling International 2010
- Eurographics Annual Conference Area Papers on Cultural Heritage 2011

9.1.5. Demonstartion co-chair

• Joint Virtual Reality Conference of EGVE-ICAT-EuroVR 2010 (Martin Hachet)

9.1.6. Reviews

The members of Iparla have also participated to the reviewing process for conferences and journals:

- **Journals:** The Visual Computer, Computer & Graphics, Journal of Multimodal User Interfaces, Int. Journal of Human-Computer Studies, Pattern Recognition, Image and Vision Computing.
- Conferences: Siggraph 2010, Eurographics 2011, Siggraph Asia 2010, Eurographics Symposium on Rendering 2010 (EGSR), Graphics interface (GI) 2010, UIST 2010, CHI 2011, IEEE VR 10-11, ICCV 2010, CVPR 2010-2011, ACCV 2010, 3DPVT 2011, CVMP 2010, Web3D 2010.

9.1.7. Committees

In 2010, the members of Iparla have been involved in the following responsibilities:

- INRIA Young Researchers Mission (Pascal Guitton)
- INRIA COPIL Management member (Pascal Guitton)
- INRIA Alumni executive board member (Pascal Guitton)
- INRIA Bordeaux commission for young researchers (Pascal Guitton)
- INRIA Bordeaux commission for new building (Pascal Guitton)
- INRIA Bordeaux local center committee (Pascal Guitton, Martin Hachet)

- INRIA Bordeaux commission for technological development (Martin Hachet)
- INRIA Bordeaux Administrative Staff Recruitment Committee (Pascal Guitton)
- Interstices Editorial committee member (Pascal Guitton)
- Fuscia Editorial committee member (Pascal Guitton)
- AFIG Co-treasurer and executive board member (Jean-Christophe Gonzato)
- AFRV President (Pascal Guitton)

9.1.8. Jury of PhD thesis

- R. Vergne, Bordeaux LaBRI (Xavier Granier, Christophe Schlick, Pascal Barla)
- F. Berthaut, Bordeaux LaBRI October 7 (Pascal Guitton, Martin Hachet)
- L. Aguerreche, Rennes Irisa, June 2010 (Martin Hachet)
- S. Hilaire, Rennes Irisa, January 2011 (Martin Hachet)

9.1.9. Jury of HDR

• M. Hachet, INRIA Bordeaux Sud-Ouest/LaBRI (Pascal Guitton)

9.1.10. Expertises

The expertise of some members has been required for some projects:

- Pole de competitivite OPTITEC (Martin Hachet)
- ANR (National Research Agency), "programme blanc internationaux" (Martin Hachet)

9.1.11. Demos

9.2. Teaching

The members of our team are implied in teaching computer science at University Bordeaux 1, University Bordeaux 2, University Bordeaux 3, and ENSEIRB Engineering School. General computer science is concerned, as well as the following graphics related topics:

- Univ. Bx 1 Master 2 Image Synthesis (Xavier Granier, Gaël Guennebaud, Jérôme Baril)
- Univ. Bx 1 Master 2 Virtual Reality (Pascal Guitton, Martin Hachet)
- Univ. Bx 1 License 3 Introduction to Image Processing (Jean-Sébastien Franco)
- IUT Bx 1 License Pro Image Computer Graphics (Xavier Granier, Romain Vergne)
- ESTIA Master Graphical User Interfaces (Patrick Reuter)

Some members are also in charge of some fields of study:

- IUT Bx 1 License 1 GACO (Jean-Christophe Gonzato)
- Univ. Bx 2 License 2 Science and Modeling (Patrick Reuter)

10. Bibliography

Major publications by the team in recent years

[1] T. BOUBEKEUR, W. HEIDRICH, X. GRANIER, C. SCHLICK. Volume-Surface Trees, in "Computer Graphics Forum (Proceedings of EUROGRAPHICS 2006)", sep 2006, vol. 25, n^O 3, p. 399–406, Best Paper & Best Student Paper, http://iparla.labri.fr/publications/2006/BHGS06.

- [2] T. BOUBEKEUR, C. SCHLICK. A Flexible Kernel for Adaptive Mesh Refinement on GPU, in "Computer Graphics Forum", 2008, vol. 27, n^o 1, p. 102–114, doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8659.2007.01040.x, http://iparla. labri.fr/publications/2008/BS08.
- [3] L. GUAN, J.-S. FRANCO, M. POLLEFEYS. Multi-Object Shape Estimation and Tracking from Silhouette Cues, in "Proceedings of IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, Anchorage, (USA)", jun 2008, http://iparla.labri.fr/publications/2008/GFP08.
- [4] M. HACHET, F. DECLE, S. KNOEDEL, P. GUITTON. Navidget for Easy 3D Camera Positioning from 2D Inputs, in "Proceedings of IEEE 3DUI - Symposium on 3D User Interfaces", 2008, best paper award, http:// iparla.labri.fr/publications/2008/HDKG08.
- [5] M. HACHET, P. GUITTON, P. REUTER, F. TYNDIUK. The CAT for Efficient 2D and 3D Interaction as an Alternative to Mouse Adaptations, in "Transactions on Graphics (Proceedings of ACM SIGGRAPH)", August 2004, vol. 23, n^o 3, Invited paper, reprise session of VRST 2003, http://iparla.labri.fr/publications/2004/ HGRT04.
- [6] M. HACHET, J. POUDEROUX, P. GUITTON. A Camera-Based Interface for Interaction with Mobile Handheld Computers, in "Proceedings of I3D'05 - ACM SIGGRAPH 2005 Symposium on Interactive 3D Graphics and Games", ACM Press, 2005, p. 65–71, http://iparla.labri.fr/publications/2005/HPG05.
- [7] A. ORZAN, A. BOUSSEAU, H. WINNEMÖLLER, P. BARLA, J. THOLLOT, D. SALESIN. Diffusion Curves: A Vector Representation for Smooth-Shaded Images, in "ACM Transaction on Graphics (Proceedings of SIGGRAPH 2008)", 2008, vol. 27, n^O 3, http://iparla.labri.fr/publications/2008/OBWBTS08.
- [8] C. OZTIRELI, G. GUENNEBAUD, M. GROSS. Feature Preserving Point Set Surfaces based on Non-Linear Kernel Regression, in "Computer Graphics Forum", 2009, vol. 28, n^o 2, p. 493–501, Best student paper, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00354969/en/.
- [9] P. REUTER, G. RIVIÈRE, N. COUTURE, N. SORRAING, L. ESPINASSE, R. VERGNIEUX. ArcheoTUI A Tangible User Interface for the Virtual Reassembly of Fractured Archeological Objects, in "Proceedings of VAST 2007: The 8th International Symposium on Virtual Reality, Archaeology and Cultural Heritage", Eurographics, 2007, http://iparla.labri.fr/publications/2007/RRCSEV07.
- [10] R. VERGNE, R. PACANOWSKI, P. BARLA, X. GRANIER, C. SCHLICK. Light Warping for Enhanced Surface Depiction, in "ACM Transaction on Graphics (Proceedings of SIGGRAPH 2009)", 2009, http://hal.inria.fr/ inria-00400829/en/.

Publications of the year

Doctoral Dissertations and Habilitation Theses

[11] J. BARIL. *Modèles de représentation multi-résolution pour le rendu photo-réaliste de matériaux complexes*, Université Sciences et Technologies - Bordeaux I, January 2010, http://hal.inria.fr/tel-00525125/en.

Articles in International Peer-Reviewed Journal

[12] L. GUAN, J.-S. FRANCO, M. POLLEFEYS. Probabilistic Multi-view Dynamic Scene Reconstruction and Occlusion Reasoning from Silhouette Cues, in "International Journal of Computer Vision", 2010, http://hal. inria.fr/inria-00527803/en.

- [13] S. LI, G. GUENNEBAUD, B. YANG, J. FENG. *Predicted Virtual Soft Shadow Maps with High Quality Filtering*, in "Computer Graphics Forum", April 2011, vol. 30, n^o 2, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00566223/en.
- [14] R. PACANOWSKI, X. GRANIER, C. SCHLICK, P. PIERRE. Volumetric Vector-based Representation for Indirect Illumination Caching, in "Journal of Computer Science and Technology (JCST)", September 2010, vol. 25, n⁰ 5, p. 925-932 [DOI: 10.1007/s11390-010-1073-8], http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00505132/en.
- [15] P. REUTER, G. RIVIÈRE, N. COUTURE, S. MAHUT, L. ESPINASSE. ArcheoTUI Driving virtual reassemblies with tangible 3D interaction, in "Journal on Computing and Cultural Heritage (JOCCH 2010)", 2010, vol. 3, n^O 2, p. 1-13 [DOI: 10.1145/1841317.1841319], http://hal.inria.fr/hal-00523688/en.
- [16] G. RIVIÈRE, N. COUTURE, P. REUTER. *The activation of modality in virtual objects assembly*, in "Journal on Multimodal User Interfaces (JMUI 2010)", 2010, vol. 3, n^o 3, p. 189-196 [DOI : 10.1007/s12193-010-0038-0], http://hal.inria.fr/hal-00465155/en.
- [17] B. SIMON, G. GUENNEBAUD, C. SCHLICK. Least Squares Subdivision Surfaces, in "Computer Graphics Forum (Proceedings of Pacific Graphics 2010)", November 2010, vol. 29, n^o 7, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00524555/en.
- [18] R. VERGNE, R. PACANOWSKI, P. BARLA, X. GRANIER, C. SCHLICK. *Improving Shape Depiction under Arbitrary Rendering*, in "IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics", 2011.

Invited Conferences

[19] N. MELLADO, P. REUTER, C. SCHLICK. Semi-automatic geometry-driven reassembly of fractured archeological objects, in "VAST 2010: The 11th International Symposium on Virtual Reality, Archaeology and Cultural Heritage (2010)", France, September 2010, 00, Nombre pages : 6, http://hal.inria.fr/hal-00516092/en.

International Peer-Reviewed Conference/Proceedings

- [20] F. BERTHAUT, M. DESAINTE-CATHERINE, M. HACHET. Combining audiovisual mappings for 3D musical interaction, in "International Computer Music Conference", New york, United States, June 2010, p 100, http:// hal.inria.fr/hal-00530076/en.
- [21] F. BERTHAUT, M. DESAINTE-CATHERINE, M. HACHET. Drile: An Immersive Environment for hierarchical live-looping, in "New Interface for Musical Expression", Sydney, Australia, June 2010, page 192, http://hal. inria.fr/hal-00530071/en.
- [22] F. BERTHAUT, M. HACHET, M. DESAINTE-CATHERINE. Piivert: Percussion-based Interaction for Immersive Virtual EnviRonmenTs, in "Symposium on 3D User Interfaces", United States, March 2010, p. p 15-18, http://hal.inria.fr/hal-00522637/en.
- [23] J. CHEN, X. GRANIER, N. LIN, Q. PENG. On-Line Visualization of Underground Structures using Context Features, in "ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology (VRST)", Hong Kong, China, ACM, November 2010 [DOI: 10.1145/1899950.1899973], http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00524818/en.
- [24] A. COHÉ, F. DECLE, M. HACHET. tBox: A 3D Transformation Widget designed for Touch-screens, in "ACM CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems", Vancouver Canada, 05 2011, http://hal.inria.fr/ inria-00567654/en/.

- [25] L. GUAN, J.-S. FRANCO, E. BOYER, M. POLLEFEYS. Probabilistic 3D Occupancy Flow with Latent Silhouette Cues, in "IEEE Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition", San Francisco, United States, June 2010, p. 1-8, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00463031/en.
- [26] O. HUGUES, J.-M. CIEUTAT, P. GUITTON. An experimental augmented reality platform application for assisted maritime navigation: Following targets, in "Virtual Reality International Conference (VRIC2010)", Laval, France, France, April 2010, p. 149-154, http://hal.inria.fr/hal-00477544/en.
- [27] O. HUGUES, J.-M. CIEUTAT, P. GUITTON. An Experimental Augmented Reality Platform for Assisted Maritime Navigation, in "Virtual Reality International Conference (VRIC2010)", Megève, France, ACM (editor), April 2010, p. 87-92, http://hal.inria.fr/hal-00477589/en.
- [28] S. KNOEDEL, M. HACHET. Multi-touch RST in 2D and 3D Spaces: Studying the Impact of Directness on User Performance, in "IEEE 3DUI", Singapour Singapour, 03 2011, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00567650/en/.
- [29] Y. SAVOYE, J.-S. FRANCO. Cage-based Tracking for Performance Animation, in "ACCV'10: the Tenth Asian Conference on Computer Vision", Queenstown, New Zealand, 2010, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00527805/en.
- [30] Y. SAVOYE, J.-S. FRANCO. CageIK: Dual-Laplacian Cage-Based Inverse Kinematics, in "AMDO 2010 : Articulated Motion and Deformable Objects", Majorque, Spain, Springer, 2010, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00527809/en.
- [31] Y. SAVOYE, J.-S. FRANCO. Conversion of Performance Mesh Animation into Cage-based Animation, in "SIGGRAPH ASIA '10: ACM SIGGRAPH ASIA 2010 (Sketches and Posters Program)", Seoul, Korea, Republic Of, 2010, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00527802/en.
- [32] R. VERGNE, R. PACANOWSKI, P. BARLA, X. GRANIER, C. SCHLICK. Radiance Scaling for Versatile Surface Enhancement, in "I3D '10: Proc. symposium on Interactive 3D graphics and games", Boston, United States, ACM, 2010, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00449828/en.
- [33] S. ZOU, H. ZHANG, X. GRANIER. Shading-Interval Constraints for Normal Map Editing, in "SIGGRAPH ASIA Sketch Program", Seoul, Korea, Republic Of, M.-P. CANI, A. SHEFFER (editors), ACM, December 2010, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00522919/en.

National Peer-Reviewed Conference/Proceedings

[34] J.-S. FRANCO, L. GUAN, E. BOYER, M. POLLEFEYS. Flot d'occupation 3D à partir de silhouettes latentes, in "Reconnaissance de Forme et Intelligence Artificielle", Caen, France, January 2010, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00463032/en.

Workshops without Proceedings

- [35] O. HUGUES, J.-M. CIEUTAT, P. GUITTON. Plateforme Expérimentale de Réalité Augmentée pour l'Aide à la Navigation Maritime, in "Association Française de Réalité Virtuelle", Lyon, France, February 2010, http:// hal.inria.fr/hal-00459782/en.
- [36] O. HUGUES, J.-M. CIEUTAT, V. PILNIÈRE, P. GUITTON. SIG Maritime Augmenté (SIGMA) Un système Enactif de Réalité Augmentée, in "12e Conférence Internationale en Ergonomie et Informatique Avancée (Ergo'IA 2010)", Bidart, 64, France, 2010, p. 1–3, http://hal.inria.fr/hal-00537402/en.

Research Reports

[37] D. VANDERHAEGHE, R. VERGNE, P. BARLA, W. BAXTER. *Bidirectional Appearance Distribution Function for Stylized Shading*, INRIA, February 2010, n^o RR-7195, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00454187/en.

Scientific Popularization

[38] P. GUITTON. Agir avec doigté en trois dimensions, in "La Recherche. Les Cahiers de l'Inria", June 2010, n^o 442 juin 2010, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00511314/en.

Patents and standards

[39] J. BARIL, P. GIOIA. *Method for Representing a Material*, 2010-01-25, n^O PCT/FR2010/050103, http://hal. inria.fr/inria-00525165/en.

Other Publications

[40] B. PETIT, T. DUPEUX, B. BOSSAVIT, J. LEGAUX, B. RAFFIN, E. MELIN, J.-S. FRANCO, I. ASSEN-MACHER, E. BOYER. *A 3D Data Intensive Tele-immersive Grid*, 2010, http://hal.inria.fr/hal-00514549/en.

References in notes

- [41] R. VERGNE, R. PACANOWSKI, P. BARLA, X. GRANIER, C. SCHLICK. Light Warping for Enhanced Surface Depiction, in "ACM Transaction on Graphics (Proceedings of SIGGRAPH 2009)", 2009, http://hal.inria.fr/ inria-00400829/en/.
- [42] B. YANG, J. FENG, G. GUENNEBAUD, X. LIU. *Packet-based Hierarchal Soft Shadow Mapping*, in "Computer Graphics Forum", 2009, vol. 28, n^o 4, p. 1121–1130, http://hal.inria.fr/inria-00390541/en/.